Filed 09-24-2021

Page 1 of 29

FILED 09-24-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2021AP0859-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

LYNNE M. SHIRIKIAN,

Defendant-Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING THE STATE'S MOTION FOR RESENTENCING ENTERED IN THE WAUKESHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JENNIFER DOROW, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

MICHAEL C. SANDERS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1030550

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

INTRODUCTION

In 2019, the Wisconsin Legislature amended the statute governing the penalty for operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant (OWI) as a fifth or sixth offense. The amended statute. Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)5., requires that a court "shall impose a bifurcated sentence under s. 973.01," and it requires that "the confinement portion of the bifurcated sentence ... shall be not less than one year and 6 months." The statute provides for an exception, allowing a court to "impose a term of confinement that is less than one year and 6 months," provided that the court explains on the record why it "finds that the best interests of the community will be served and the public will not be harmed." Wis Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)5.

The issues in this case concern whether a court can place a person on probation for OWI as a fifth or sixth offense, without requiring the person to serve a term of initial confinement in prison. The circuit court concluded that by allowing a "term of confinement" of less than one year and six months, Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)5. allowed it to impose a bifurcated sentence, stay the sentence, and place Lynne M. Shirikian on probation with condition time of less than one year and six months. And in denying the State's motion for resentencing, the circuit court concluded that resentencing Shirikian would violate her right to be free from double jeopardy because she has a legitimate expectation of finality in the sentence the court imposed.

This Court should reverse because Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)5. requires a circuit court to impose a bifurcated sentence, which necessarily requires a minimum term of one year of initial confinement in prison. When a defendant is required to serve a minimum term of initial confinement in prison, a court may not stay the sentence and may not place the person on probation. Resentencing is the

Page 7 of 29

proper remedy and will not violate Shirikian's right to be free from double jeopardy because she has no legitimate expectation of finality in an illegal sentence.

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Does Wisconsin Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)5. authorize a circuit court sentencing a person for OWI as a fifth or sixth offense to stay a bifurcated sentence and place the person on probation?

The circuit court answered "yes." It concluded that the statute required it only to impose a term of confinement, so it was authorized to place Shirikian on probation for her fifth offense OWI.

This Court should answer "no." The plain language of the statute requires a court to impose a bifurcated sentence with a mandatory minimum term of initial confinement in prison. And it is well established that when a person is required to serve a term of initial confinement in prison, a court is prohibited from staying the sentence and placing the person on probation.

2. If a circuit court imposes a bifurcated sentence under Wisconsin Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)5. but improperly stays the sentence and places the person on probation, may the court resentence the person?

The circuit court answered "no." It concluded that Shirikian has a legitimate expectation of finality in her sentence, so resentencing her would violate her right to be free from double jeopardy.

This Court should answer "yes," and reverse. Shirikian was not sentenced in accord with the law, and she has no legitimate expectation of finality in an illegal sentence. Resentencing will therefore not violate her right to be free from double jeopardy.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State does not request oral argument. The State requests publication of this Court's opinion to provide guidance to courts and parties throughout Wisconsin on whether Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)5. authorizes a court to impose and stay a sentence for OWI as a fifth or sixth offense and place the person on probation.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On May 27, 2020, police were dispatched to a retail store on a report that an intoxicated woman had stolen bottles of alcohol from the store and was driving. (R. 9:3.) Police spoke to three witnesses. A loss prevention officer at the store told police that he had confronted the woman (later identified as Shirikian) in the parking lot and observed that an odor of alcohol was emanating from her. (R. 9:3.) A second witness told police that Shirikian had been staggering and swaying in the alcohol aisle of the store and then in the parking lot. (R. 9:3.) A third witness told police that she was driving behind a vehicle, later identified as Shirikian's, that was swerving and that drove over the curb, and then stopped at a gas station. (R. 9:3.)

City of Oconomowoc Police Officer Adam Germanis encountered Shirikian at the gas station. (R. 9:3–4.) He observed a very strong odor of alcohol emanating from Shirikian, and that her eyes were bloodshot, her face was flushed, and her speech was heavily slurred. (R. 9:3–4.) After Shirikian admitted to drinking, and the officer observed the

Filed 09-24-2021

Page 9 of 29

maximum number of clues on each field sobriety test, he arrested Shirikian for OWI. (R. 9:4.) After Shirikian refused to provide a blood sample under the implied consent law, the officer obtained a search warrant and Shirikian's blood was drawn. (R. 9:4.) A test revealed an alcohol concentration of .299. (R. 8; 9:4.) Because Shirikian had four countable convictions for OWI or operating a motor vehicle with a prohibited alcohol concentration (PAC), the State charged her with OWI and PAC as fifth offenses. (R. 9.)

The State and Shirikian reached a plea agreement under which Shirikian pleaded guilty to OWI as a fifth offense, and the PAC was dismissed. (R. 38:1-13, A-App. 102-14.) The circuit court, the Honorable Jennifer R. Dorow, presiding, accepted Shirikian's guilty plea (R. 38:12-13, A-App. 113-14) and imposed sentence (R. 38:20-36, A-App. 121-37.). The court noted that the maximum potential sentence was ten years of imprisonment, including five years of initial confinement, and the applicable statute provided for a presumptive minimum of one year and six months of initial confinement. (R. 38:4, 9, A-App. 105, 110.) The court imposed and stayed a bifurcated sentence of five years of imprisonment, consisting of three years of initial confinement and two years of extended supervision. (R. 38:28, A-App. 129; R. 3, A-App. 140–42.) The court placed Shirikian on probation for three years with nine months of condition time, to be spent in the county jail. (R. 38:28–29, A-App. 129–30.) The court found that the best interests of the community would be served and the public would not be harmed by placing Shirikian on probation rather than requiring her to serve the statutory minimum term of confinement, and it explained its reasoning on the record. (R. 38:29, A-App. 130.)

Immediately after the court explained the sentence, the prosecutor asserted that the State believed the court was required to impose a sentence with at least one year in prison. (R. 38:32, A-App. 133.) The court disagreed, stating the statute "just says I can impose a term of confinement that is less than one year and 6 months. Doesn't say initial confinement. Just says confinement." (R. 38:32, A-App. 133.) After examining the statute, the court concluded that the Legislature's use of the word "confinement" rather than "initial confinement" allowed a court to impose a term of probation and condition time that's less than one year and six months." (R. 38:35, A-App. 136.) The court said that the term of confinement "could be anything from a day, to - - obviously up to the maximum here." (R. 38:35, A-App. 136.) The court therefore affirmed that it was imposing and staying the sentence it had announced and placing Shirikian on probation. (R. 38:36, A-App. 137.)

The State moved for resentencing, asserting that Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)5. required the court to impose a bifurcated sentence with a mandatory minimum of one year and six months of initial confinement, with an exception that authorized the court to impose a bifurcated sentence with as little as one year in prison. (R. 29, A-App. 143–49.) The Department of Corrections also requested that the circuit court review Shirikian's sentence, because it read Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)5. as requiring a bifurcated sentence with at least one year and six months of initial confinement. (R. 32.) The circuit court denied the State's motion for resentencing, concluding that it had properly sentenced Shirikian, that she is entitled to finality in her sentence, and that resentencing her "would violate her double jeopardy protection." (R. 34, A-App. 101.) The State now appeals. (R. 36.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper interpretation and application of statutory language are questions of law that an appellate court reviews independently. *State v. Lickes*, 2021 WI 60, ¶ 14, __Wis. 2d __, 960 N.W.2d 855.

"Whether an individual's constitutional right to be free from double jeopardy has been violated is a question of law that this court reviews de novo." *State v. Robinson*, 2014 WI 35, ¶ 18, 354 Wis. 2d 351, 847 N.W.2d 352 (quoting *State v. Anderson*, 219 Wis. 2d 739, 746, 580 N.W.2d 329 (1998)).

ARGUMENT

- Under Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)5., the circuit I. court was required to impose a bifurcated sentence with least of \mathbf{at} year initial a confinement: the court erred by staying Shirikian's bifurcated sentence and placing her on probation.
 - A. A reviewing court interprets statutory language to give the statute its full, proper and intended effect.

The primary issue in this case requires the interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)5. "The purpose of statutory interpretation is to determine what the statute means so that it may be given its full, proper, and intended effect." *State v. Buchanan*, 2013 WI 31, ¶ 23, 346 Wis. 2d 735, 828 N.W.2d 847 (quoting *State v. Ziegler*, 2012 WI 73, ¶ 42, 342 Wis. 2d 256, 816 N.W.2d 238) (additional citations omitted).

When a reviewing court interprets a statute, it "begins with the plain language of the statute." State v. Dinkins, 2012 WI 24, ¶ 29, 339 Wis. 2d 78, 810 N.W.2d 787 (citing State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110). A court "generally give[s] words and phrases their common, ordinary, and accepted meaning." Id. (citing Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 45). A reviewing court is to "interpret statutory language reasonably, 'to avoid absurd or unreasonable results." Id. (quoting Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, \P 46). "An interpretation that contravenes the manifest purpose of the statute is unreasonable." Id. (citing Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 49). "[S]tatutory language is interpreted in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but as part of a whole; in relation to the language of surrounding or closelyrelated statutes; and reasonably, to avoid absurd or unreasonable results." Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 46. In determining the plain language meaning of a statute, a court may consider the scope, context, and purpose of the statute, so long as they "are ascertainable from the text and structure of the statute itself." Id. ¶ 48.

"[A] statute is ambiguous if it is capable of being understood by reasonably well-informed persons in two or more senses." *State v. Dorsey*, 2018 WI 10, ¶ 30, 379 Wis. 2d 386, 906 N.W.2d 158 (quoting *Kalal*, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 46). A court may examine the legislative history to discern the meaning of an ambiguous statute. *State v. Williams*, 2014 WI 64, ¶ 19, 355 Wis. 2d 581, 852 N.W.2d 467.

 B. By its plain language, Wis. Stat.
§ 346.65(2)(am)5. requires a court to impose a bifurcated sentence with a minimum term of initial confinement for OWI as a fifth or sixth offense.

The statute that governs sentencing for OWI as a fifth or sixth offense, Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)5., provides that any person who violates Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1) "is guilty of a

Filed 09-24-2021

Class G felony and shall be fined not less than \$600."¹ Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)5. The statute establishes how a court is required to sentence the person:

The court shall impose a bifurcated sentence under s. 973.01, and the confinement portion of the bifurcated sentence imposed on the person shall be not less than one year and 6 months. The court may impose a term of confinement that is less than one year and 6 months if the court finds that the best interests of the community will be served and the public will not be harmed and if the court places its reasons on the record.

Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)5.

There can be no serious question about the meaning of the first sentence. A court "shall impose a bifurcated sentence." And the "confinement portion" of that bifurcated sentence "shall be not less than one year and 6 months."

The issue in this case concerns the second sentence, which provides an exception for cases in which a sentencing court "finds that the best interests of the community will be served and the public will not be harmed." A court that makes those findings and places its reasons on the record, "may impose a term of confinement that is less than one year and 6 months."

The State's position is that the statute is unambiguous. The statute requires a court to impose a bifurcated sentence. A "bifurcated sentence" is defined as "a sentence that consists of a term of confinement in prison followed by a term of extended supervision." Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2). The "term of confinement" portion of a bifurcated sentence "may not be less than one year." Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2)(b).

¹ The maximum penalty for a Class G felony is ten years of imprisonment and a \$25,000 fine. Wis. Stat. § 939.50(3)(d).

Page 14 of 29

Wisconsin Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)5. requires that the term of confinement portion of the bifurcated sentence for OWI as a fifth or sixth offense generally must be longer than the usual one year required as a minimum for a bifurcated sentence: it must be not less than one year and 6 months. The statute provides for an exception when a court finds "that the best interests of the community will be served and the public will not be harmed." Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)5. In such a case, the term of confinement portion of the bifurcated sentence may be less than one year and six months. However, since a bifurcated sentence "may not be less than one year," Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2)(b), the term of initial confinement portion of the bifurcated sentence may be less than one year and 6 months if the court makes the required findings, but it may not be less than one year.

The circuit court read Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)5. as not requiring a court to impose a bifurcated sentence with a minimum term of initial confinement if it makes the requisite findings. (R. 38:35, A-App. 136.) The court concluded that by using the word "confinement," the statute allows a court to impose a term of confinement of less than one year and six months and place a person on probation with as little as one day of condition time in jail. (R. 38:35, A-App. 136.)

But the statute does not say that a court is not required to impose a bifurcated sentence. Instead, the first sentence in the statute explicitly says that a court "shall impose a bifurcated sentence" with a minimum term of confinement. Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)5. And the second sentence says that the "term of confinement" may be shorter than the listed minimum if the court makes the requisite findings.

The circuit court erroneously read the word "confinement" in the second sentence to mean any form of confinement, including condition time in jail. (R. 38:35, A-App. 136.) But the express text and structure of the statute shows that "term of confinement" in the second sentence

refers to the "confinement portion of the bifurcated sentence" used in the first sentence.

Under the circuit court's interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)5. the word "confinement" means something different in the first sentence than in the second sentence. In the first sentence, "confinement" plainly means "initial confinement," because the statute refers to "the confinement portion of the bifurcated sentence." But under the court's interpretation, in the second sentence "confinement" somehow "include[s] probation and condition time." (R. 38:35. A-App. 136.) The State can discern no reason that the Legislature would have used the word "confinement" in the second sentence to mean something entirely different than what is meant by the same word in the first sentence. The only reasonable interpretation of "term of confinement" in a statute that explicitly calls for a bifurcated sentence is that the "term of confinement" is the "term of confinement" portion of a bifurcated sentence, which, along with a period of extended supervision, comprises a bifurcated sentence.

Additionally, the State is unaware of any statute or case which defines or uses "term of confinement" in the manner the circuit court did. Instead, a bifurcated sentence is defined as "a sentence that consists of a term of confinement in prison followed by a term of extended supervision." Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2) (emphasis added). Other statutes use "term of confinement" in the same manner. For instance, "All consecutive sentences . . . shall be computed as one continuous sentence. The person shall serve any term of extended supervision after serving all *terms of confinement* in prison." Wis. Stat. § 302.113(4) (emphasis added). Some statutes say, "term of confinement in prison portion of a bifurcated sentence." See, e.g., Wis. Stat. § 939.617(1). But the State is unaware of any statute that uses the phrase "term of confinement" to mean something other than term of confinement in prison.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court has recognized that the term of initial confinement that is part of a bifurcated sentence is a "term of confinement." See, e.g., State v. Cole, 2003 WI 59, ¶ 6, 262 Wis. 2d 167, 863 N.W.2d 700 ("The circuit court thus sentenced the defendant to a bifurcated sentence including a term of confinement of three years followed by a three-year period of extended supervision."); State v. Jackson, 2004 WI 29, ¶ 15, 270 Wis. 2d 113, 676 N.W.2d 872 ("Wis. Stat. § 973.01(1) requires a circuit court to impose a bifurcated sentence consisting of a term of confinement followed by a term of extended supervision whenever it sentences a person to "imprisonment.") The State is unaware of any case interpreting the phrase "term of confinement" to mean something other than term of confinement in prison.

The structure, context, and purpose of Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)5. strongly support the plain language meaning of the statute. As the supreme court recognized in *Williams*, "Even a cursory glance at the structure of Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am) reveals a pattern: the mandatory minimum sentences generally increase with the number of OWIs." *Williams*, 355 Wis. 2d 581, ¶ 32. But under the circuit court's interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)5., the mandatory minimum would not increase for a fifth or sixth offense there would be either no minimum or a minimum of one day in jail.

The minimum term of imprisonment for a person convicted of OWI as a second offense is 5 days. Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)2. For a third offense, the minimum is 45 days. Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)3. For a fourth offense, the minimum is 60 days. Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)4. For a seventh, eighth or ninth offense, the minimum is three years of initial confinement in prison. Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)6. For a tenth or subsequent offense, the minimum is four years. Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)7. And for a fifth or sixth offense, the minimum is one year and 6 months. Wis. Stat.

Filed 09-24-2021

§ 346.65(2)(am)5. Except, under the circuit court's interpretation of the statute, there is no minimum term of confinement for a fifth or sixth offense if the court makes the findings. An interpretation of Wis. Stat. requisite § 346.65(2)(am)5. as requiring no minimum term of confinement (or a one-day minimum term) would be inconsistent with the structure of Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am).

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