FILED 07-22-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

### WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

APPEAL NO. 2021AP0859-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

LYNNE M. SHIRIKIAN,

Defendant-Respondent.

Appeal from the Circuit Court for Waukesha County, the Honorable Jennifer Dorow, Circuit Court Judge,
Presiding
Circuit Court Case No: 20-CF-000662

### BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT LYNNE M. SHIRIKIAN

Douglas M. Raines, S.B.W. No. 1059539 HUSCH BLACKWELL, LLP 511 North Broadway, Ste. 1100 Milwaukee, WI 53202 PH: (414) 978-5435

PH: (414) 978-5435 FAX: (414) 223-5000

Email: doug.raines@huschblackwell.com Attorneys for Defendant-Respondent Lynne M. Shirikian

##

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

### **ARGUMENT**

- I. Wisconsin statutes grant the circuit court authority to impose a bifurcated sentence, but stay that bifurcated sentence and order probation with confinement in county jail.
  - A. The plain meaning of the sentencing exception to Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)5., in conjunction with Wis. Stats. §§ 973.09, and 973.15(8)(a), permit the circuit court to impose a bifurcated sentence, stay that sentence, and order probation for OWI as a fifth offense.

Whether the circuit court properly exercised its discretion in sentencing Shirikian is predicated largely on interpretation of multiple Wisconsin statutes. Shirikian's guilty plea to OWI as a fifth offense invokes Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)5. Next, Wis. Stat. § 973.15(8)(a) grants the circuit court authority to stay a bifurcated sentence imposed under § 346.65(2)(am)5. Finally, Wis. Stat. § 973.15(8)(a)2. and Wis. Stat. § 973.09 grant the circuit court authority to order probation in these circumstances. Pursuant to the plain meaning of these statutes, the circuit court possessed the authority to impose a bifurcated sentence of three years of initial confinement and two years of extended supervision, but stay that bifurcated sentence and order three years of probation with nine months of confinement in county jail.

1. It is uncontested the circuit court made the requisite finding to invoke the "best-interest-of-the-community" sentencing exception to Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)5.

Sentencing for a fifth OWI offense is initially governed by Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)5. That statute provides the sentencing court shall impose a bifurcated sentence, and the "initial confinement" portion of the bifurcated sentence cannot be less than one year and 6 months, unless the court finds it would serve the best interests of the community and cause no harm to the public for the defendant to be sentenced to a "term of confinement that is less than one year and 6 months." Specifically, the statue provides in relevant part as follows:

The court shall impose a bifurcated sentence under s. 973.01, and the confinement portion of the bifurcated sentence imposed on the person shall be not less than one year and 6 months. The court may impose a term of confinement that is less than one year and 6 months if the court finds that the best interests of the community will be served and the public will not be harmed if the court places its reasons on the record.

Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)5.

The State agrees the second sentence quoted above—i.e., the sentencing exception in the statute—applies to this appeal. (State Br., p. 13.) In addition, the State does not argue the circuit court failed to make the requisite findings to invoke the statute's sentencing exception. The State further agrees "the statute requires a court to impose a bifurcated

sentence," and a bifurcated sentence is one that "consists of a term of confinement in prison followed by a term of extended supervision." (State Br., p. 13); Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2).

Thus, the circuit court's sentence satisfies the provisions of § 346.65(2)(am)5.: (a) the circuit court concededly made the requisite findings to apply the "best-interest-of-the-community" sentencing exception in the statute; and (b) the circuit court imposed a bifurcated sentence, comprised of three years of initial confinement, followed by two years of extended supervision. (R. 38:28-29; A.-App. 129-30.)

Accordingly, the question becomes whether the circuit court possessed the authority to stay its imposed bifurcated sentence and order three years of probation, including nine months of confinement in county jail. (R. 30:28-29; A.-App. 29-30.) As shown below, pursuant to Wis. Stats. §§ 973.15(8), 973.09, the answer is "yes."

# 2. Wisconsin Stat. § 973.15(8)(a) authorized the circuit court to stay its imposed bifurcated sentence.

Wisconsin Stat. § 973.15(8)(a)—which the State entirely fails to mention—authorized the circuit court in these circumstances to stay its bifurcated sentence. Section 973.15(8)(a) authorizes a circuit court to stay execution of a sentence *either* "[f]or legal cause," *or* "[u]nder Wis. Stat. § 973.09(1)(a)," the probation statute:

The sentencing court may stay execution of a sentence of imprisonment or to the intensive sanctions program only:

1. For legal cause; [or]

2. Under s. 973.09(1)(a) . . . .

Wis. Stat. § 973.15(8)(a)1., 2.

Both alternatives within Wis. Stat. § 973.15(8)(a) are satisfied here.

The circuit court had "legal cause" to stay execution of the bifurcated sentence it imposed. The statutes do not define "legal cause," but Wisconsin case law has elucidated the phrase's meaning. Legal cause "refers to a stay based on the legality of the conviction or the duty to enforce the sentence, and has been explained as 'good cause, having to do with the sentence itself, and not on grounds which have no relation to the action in which the sentence is pronounced and are more properly for the consideration of the governor, in whom the power to pardon is vested, rather than the judiciary." *State v. Szulczewski*, 216 Wis. 2d 495, ¶ 28, 574 N.W.2d 660 (1998) (quoting *Drewniak v. State ex rel. Jacquest*, 239 Wis. 475, 486, 1 N.W.2d 899 (1942)). Accordingly, a stay for the "personal accommodation of the defendant" is not legal cause under Wis. Stat. § 973.15(8)(a)1. *Id.*, ¶ 30.

The following circumstances have been held to constitute a stay for "legal cause":

- a stay pending appeal, *Szulczewski*, 216 Wis. 2d 495, ¶ 29 (citing *Reinex v. State*, 51 Wis. 152, 8 N.W. 155 (1881));
- a stay to consolidate sentencing matters, *id.* (citing *Weston v. State*, 28 Wis. 2d 136, 146, 135 N.W.2d 820 (1965)); and
- a stay of execution of imprisonment for a defendant convicted of and sentenced for a crime while that defendant is under

commitment related to being found not guilty of a previous crime by reason of mental disease or defect, id., ¶¶ 2-6, 30-31.

The stay here is analogous to the scenarios above that constitute stays for legal cause. Here, the circuit court's stay of Shirikian's bifurcated sentence was for "good cause having to do with the sentence itself . . . ." *Id.*, ¶ 28. The legal cause is the sentencing exception in § 346.65(2)(am)5. that permits the circuit court to impose "a term of confinement that is less than one year and 6 months if the court finds the best interests of the community will be served and the public will not be harmed . . . ." By definition, this sentencing exception in the OWI statute does *not* pertain to "personal accommodation of the defendant." *Szulczewski*, 216 Wis. 2d 495, ¶ 30. Rather, it pertains to "the best interests of the community" and to protecting the public. Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)5.

Accordingly, the circuit court possessed authority under § 973.15(8)(a)1. to stay the bifurcated sentence it imposed. Thus, it was lawful for the circuit court to impose a bifurcated sentence of three years of initial confinement followed by two years of extended supervision; to stay that bifurcated sentence; and to sentence Shirikian to three years of probation, pursuant to the provisions of § 346.65(2)(am)5. and § 973.15(8)(a)1.

However, even if the best-interests-of-the-community sentencing exception in § 346.65(2)(am)5. does not constitute "legal cause" under § 973.15(8)(a)1., the circuit court nevertheless possessed authority to stay its bifurcated sentence and order probation. This is true because—in

addition to granting courts authority to stay sentences for "legal cause"—§ 973.15(8)(a) grants circuit courts authority to stay sentences "[u]nder Wis. Stat. § 973.09(1)(a)," the probation statute. Wis. Stat. § 973.15(8)(a)2. Here, the circuit court possessed authority to stay its bifurcated sentence pursuant to the probation statute. Part I.A.3. below shows why this is the case.

3. Wisconsin Stat. § 973.09(1)(a) authorized the circuit court to stay its imposed bifurcated sentence and order probation.

Wisconsin Stat. § 973.09(1)(a) authorized the circuit court to stay its imposed bifurcated sentence and order probation. That statute provides in relevant part:

Except as provided in par. (c)<sup>1</sup> or if probation is prohibited for a particular offense by statute, if a person is convicted of a crime, the court, by order, may withhold sentence or impose sentence under s. 973.15 and stay its execution, and in either case place the person on probation to the department for a stated period, stating in the order the reasons therefore. . . .

Wis. Stat. § 973.09(1)(a).

As demonstrated, sub. (1)(a) authorizes a circuit court to stay execution of a sentence and place the person on probation, unless "probation is prohibited for a particular offense by statute." *Id.* Here, § 973.09(1)(a) authorized the circuit court to place Shirikian on probation because in these circumstances probation is not prohibited by any statute.

<sup>1</sup> Sub (c) provides that a person who is convicted of any crime punishable by life in prison is not eligible to be placed on probation. Wis. Stat. § 973.09(1)(c).

.

The State contends Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)5. prohibits a circuit court from ordering probation because § 346.65(2)(am)5. does not specifically *authorize* probation. (State Br., pp. 23-24.) But the State's argument ignores Wis. Stat. § 973.09(1)(d), which when read together with § 346.65(2)(am)5., does *expressly authorize* probation here.

The exception in § 346.65(2)(am)5. permits a circuit court to impose a sentence of confinement of less than one year and six months. Meanwhile, § 973.09(1)(d) permits a circuit court to order probation where a "person is convicted of an offense that provides a mandatory or presumptive minimum period of one year or less of imprisonment":

If a person is convicted of an offense that provides a mandatory or presumptive minimum period of one year or less of imprisonment, a court may place the person on probation under par. (a) if the court requires, as a condition of probation, that the person be confined under sub. (4) for at least that mandatory or presumptive minimum period. . . .

Wis. Stat. § 973.09(1)(d).

Thus, read together, § 346.65(2)(am)5. and § 973.09(1)(d), (4) authorized the circuit court to place Shirikian on probation.

The State's reliance on *State v. Lalicata* is misplaced. 2012 WI App 138, 345 Wis. 2d 342, 824 N.W.2d 921. *Lalicata* does not apply because the case did not involve § 973.09(1)(d) at all. This is critical: whereas § 973.09(1)(d) applies here because the sentencing exception in the OWI statute permits a mandatory minimum that may be one year or

Case 2021AP000859 Brief of Respondent Filed 07-22-2022 Page 24 of 43

less, § 973.09(1)(d) could not apply in *Lalicata* because the statute there set a mandatory minimum of 25 years. 345 Wis. 2d 342, ¶¶ 2, 5. Indeed, the State in *Lalicata* went out of its way to distinguish § 973.09(1)(d) from the *Lalicata* situation, arguing that § 973.09(1)(d) "expressly authorizes probation." Id., ¶ 7. The State's position in *Lalicata* is Shirikian's position here.

The State further contends the circuit court's order of probation is unlawful because: (a) Wis. Stat. § 973.01(2)(b) requires a mandatory bifurcated sentence to include at least one year of confinement in prison; and (b) Wis. Stat. § 973.09(1)(d) requires the circuit court, "as a condition of probation," to "confine[]" the defendant "for at least that mandatory or presumptive minimum period of imprisonment" referenced in § 973.01(2)(b); but (c) the circuit court did not order Shirikian confined for at least one year but, rather, ordered her confined for nine months. (State Br., pp. 13-15.) The State is incorrect.

The State's argument in this regard is predicated on two errors. The State's first error is that Shirikian's sentence violates § 973.01(2)(b) because she was not sentenced to at least a year of confinement. The State's second error is that Shirikian's sentence is unlawful because she was not sentenced to confinement in prison.

As to the State's first error: the circuit court's bifurcated sentence satisfied § 973.01(2)(b)'s requirement that the confinement portion of the sentence be at least a year. Here, the circuit court ordered a bifurcated sentence that included a three-year prison sentence. (R. 38:28; A.-App.

129.) For the reasons explained above, § 973.15(8)(a) permitted the circuit court to stay that three-year prison sentence. Then, the sentencing exception in § 346.65(2)(am)5., coupled with § 973.09(1)(d), permitted Shirikian to be sentenced for less than one year of confinement. Thus, the circuit court's order that she be confined for nine months is statutorily permissible.

As to the State's second error: The State incorrectly argues the term "confinement" in § 346.65(2)(am)5. means "confinement in prison" and, therefore, it was unlawful for the circuit court to confine Shirikian in county jail. (State Br., pp. 13-16.) In this regard, the State asserts that, under the circuit court's interpretation of the OWI statute, the word "confinement" in the first sentence means confinement," but the word "confinement" in the second sentence would include probation and condition time. (*Id.*, p. 15.) That is not accurate. The term "confinement" means the same thing in both sentences of the OWI statute: As shown below, the probation statute, § 973.09(1)(a), (d), (4)—as well as several other statutes—demonstrate "confinement" does not mean "confinement in prison." The circuit court permissibly imposed a three-year prison sentence, but stayed that sentence under § 973.15(8)(a) and § 973.09(1)(a), (d), (4)(a).

As noted, § 973.09(1)(d) permits a circuit court to order probation where the "mandatory or presumptive minimum" period of imprisonment is "one year or less," so long as the "court requires, as a condition of probation, that the person be *confined under sub.* (4) for at least the

mandatory or presumptive minimum period." Wis. Stat. § 973.09(1)(d) (emphasis added). Subsection (4), in turn, shows the term "confined" does *not* mean "confined in prison" but, instead, means confined in any number of places *other than prison*, such as county jail, Huber, work camp, or tribal jail:

The court may also require as a condition of probation that probationer be confined during such period of the term of probation as the court prescribes, but not to exceed one year. The court may grant the privilege of leaving the county jail, Huber facility, work camp, or tribal jail during the hours or periods of employment or other activity under s. 303.08(1) while confined under this subsection. . . . In those counties with a Huber facility under s. 303.09, the sheriff shall determine whether confinement under this subsection is to be in that facility or in the county jail. . . .

Wis. Stat. § 973.09(4)(a) (emphasis added).

Consistent with the sentencing exception in § 346.65(2)(am)5. and with § 973.09(1)(d), (4)(a), the circuit court permissibly stayed Shirikian's bifurcated sentence and ordered three years of probation with nine months confinement in county jail with Huber release privileges. (R. 38:28-29; A.-App. 29-30.)

The probation statute is not the only statute that shows the term "confinement" within § 346.65(2)(am)5. does not mean "confinement in prison." The criminal code is replete with provisions employing the phrase "confinement in prison." If "confinement" meant "confinement in prison," as the State asserts, then all of Wisconsin's criminal provisions

employing the phrase "confinement in prison" would contain the impermissible surplusage "in prison." *Republic Airlines, Inc. v. Wis. Dep't. of Rev.*, 159 Wis. 2d 247, 255, 464 N.W.2d 62 (Ct. App. 1990) (a court should avoid an interpretation of a statute that would create superfluity in other statutes).

Even more tellingly as to the meaning § 346.65(2)(am)5., several Wisconsin statutes expressly bifurcated require sentence—as § 346.65(2)(am)5. requires—but those statutes address "the term of confinement in prison portion of the bifurcated sentence." E.g., Wis. Stats. §§ 939.616(1r), 939.616(2), 939.617(1), 939.618(2)(a), 939.6195(2) (emphasis added) (see chart immediately below for specific text). In contrast, § 346.65(2)(am)5. omits the words "in prison" and simply references the "confinement portion of the bifurcated sentence."

This difference in statutory text should be given effect. It shows the legislature does not require "confinement in prison" for those convicted under § 346.65(2)(am)5. See Ball v. District No. 4, Area Bd. of Vocational, Technical & Adult Educ., 117 Wis. 2d 529, 539, 345 N.W.2d 389 (1984) (stating courts presume the legislature chooses "its terms carefully and precisely to express its meaning"). Instead, as shown above, a stayed bifurcated sentence with an order of probation is permissible.

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